## Johnson & Wales University ScholarsArchive@JWU

Hospitality Graduate Student Scholarship

College of Hospitality Management

Summer 8-17-2020

# Hospitality Management Undergraduate Internships: Comparing Internship Requirements to Industry Employer Expectations

Daniela Ilijic

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.jwu.edu/hosp\_graduate



| Hospitality I | Management | Undergraduate | Internships |
|---------------|------------|---------------|-------------|
|               |            |               |             |

# Hospitality Management Undergraduate Internships: Comparing Internship Requirements to Industry Employer Expectations

Daniela Ilijic

Johnson & Wales University

**HOSP 6900 Hospitality Capstone** 

Professor Paul Howe

August 24th, 2020

## **Table Of Contents**

| Introduction   | 4  |
|--|----|
| Review of Literature                                     | 5  |
| Defining the Term Internship                             | 5  |
| Role of Internships in Hospitality Management Curriculum | 6  |
| Internship Structure                                     | 7  |
| Methodology  | 8  |
| Research Design  | 8  |
| Findings   | 8  |
| Limitations  | 11 |
| Implications   | 11 |
| Conclusion   | 13 |
| References   | 15 |

#### Abstract

This article examines internship courses in undergraduate hospitality management programs in the Southern Association of Colleges and School Commissions on Colleges (SACSCOC) region. The purpose of this article is to examine how internship course curriculum compares to the industry employers' internship expectations. The results show the disconnect between curriculum for internship courses and what industry employers desire for internships. The findings show that undergraduate hospitality management programs in the same region vary in requirements, and these requirements do not meet industry employers' internship expectations.

*Keywords:* internships, undergraduate, hospitality management, hospitality industry, curriculum, industry employers

#### Introduction

According to a study, 89% of hospitality management degree programs across the nation involve some form of internship as part of the curriculum (Petrillose & Montgomery, 1997). An internship is a form of experiential learning which "is a broad term referring to multiple programs and systems for providing students in educational institutions with work-based applied learning opportunities (Lee, 2007, p. 38). These courses are part of the overall total credits required to achieve the degree and allow students to gain a certain number of relevant industry experience to help build a resume and attract future employers. However, the literature suggests that future employers have a different expectation of what an internship entails, such as the number of internship hours or certain essential skills acquired through internships (Jack, Stansbie & Michael, 2017).

There is a perceived disconnect between hospitality management programs and industry employers in regards to the structure of internships and which skills should be developed through them such as communication or technical. Hospitality management programs need to take into consideration the expectations industry employers have in regards to internships and students' skills. Institutions should see this as an importance because it is "in the best interest of all stakeholders - students, educators and industry - that these constituencies continue and enhance their cooperation in education and training of the next hospitality graduates" (Jiang & Alexakis, 2017, p. 33). Yiu and Law (2012) stated that students, employers, and educators need to have a better understanding of each others' expectations of internships to "meet objectives and balance expectations" (p. 392).

The literature supports the importance of internships in the curriculum and that these internships allow students to gain real industry perspective. If internships are used by educators as a course to have students apply knowledge and gain industry experience, the internship structure should be reflective of expectations set by industry employers. This study therefore examines one region of higher education institutions and comparing it to the expectations of internships for all stakeholders involved, key factors can be highlighted to assist all stakeholders in having one common understanding of what to expect from an internship curriculum in that region. This research can then be used to assist the other accreditation regions and institutions examine their internship curriculum compared to the expectations of the stakeholders.

#### **Review of Literature**

There have been many studies to highlight the importance of internships in a hospitality management program. Much of the research has focused the fact that educators, students, and industry employers have different viewpoints of what skills and competencies should be focused on for an internship. There is very little research that has compared internship curriculum of various hospitality management programs, and if it reflects the industry employers' expectations. The literature reviewed is an analysis of internships based on accreditation standards and journals presenting viewpoints of educators, students, and industry employers.

#### Defining the term *Internship*

For the purpose of this article, internships will refer to any form of industry based

experiential learning. This includes the terms such as work experience, practicum, externships, practicums, experience-based learning, and co-op. Yiu and Law (2012) defined internships as "work-based educational experiences and require the cooperation of students, employers, and educators to be successful" (p. 378). This definition supports the literature and encompasses the terminology used by the universities in the SACSCOC Region. SACSCOC categorizes internship as a form of a direct assessment competency program, also known as a direct assessment program, which is "an instructional program that, in lieu of credit hours or clock hours as a measure of student learning, uses direct assessment of student learning relying solely on the attainment of defined competencies, or recognizes the direct assessment of student learning by others," (2018, p. 1).

#### Role of Internships in Hospitality Management Curriculum

The hospitality management industry is built on services that are tangible and intangible. The tangible services of the hospitality industry are transactional moments such as reserving a hotel room, placing a catering order, creating a banquet event order, purchasing a show ticket or requesting rental equipment. The intangible services of the hospitality industry are the interactions that create the guest's experience. These interactions require employees to have strong professional *soft skills* which are communication skills and employers prefer students and graduates to have these skills as well as technical skills (Yiu & Law, 2012, p. 392-393). Educators and hospitality curriculum mainly focus on teaching technical skills (Alexakis & Jiang, 2019, p. 216). An internship allows students to apply the theory courses into actual work

experience and build on the technical and communication skills to develop management skills (Petrillose & Montgomery, 1997).

#### **Internship Structure**

Industry employers and educators have drastically different views on the structure of internships. SACSCOC Resource Manual for the Principles of Accreditation does not provide specific requirements for internships. Petrillose & Montgomery (1997) found that educators usually create a three month internship experience while industry employers believe internships experiences should be six months. Additionally, they found more than fifty percent of educators require internship hours be 600 or less, but more than seventy percent of industry employers recommended 1200 internship hours (Petrillose & Montgomery, 1997). This industry employer belief of needing more internship hours is also supported by another study that found on average industry employers suggest on average 991 internship hours compared to the average 750 hours suggested by educators (Jack, Stansbie & Michael, 2017). Educators and industry employers agree that a written component should be part of the internship experience (Petrillose & Montgomery, 1997).

Based on the literature, institutions have the information to restructure their internship curriculum based on the industry employers' expectations. Therefore, the stakeholders (industry employers and students) should be receiving a mutually beneficial internship experience. This study will examine the internship structure of various undergraduate hospitality management programs.

#### Methodology

This research examined various institutions and their curriculum regarding internship courses for the hospitality management program. The information collected allowed for comparison of the various curriculums in regards to the same key factors.

#### **Research Design**

A qualitative analysis based on secondary research is used for this study. The institutions are all part of the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges (SACSCOC), which include the following states: Virginia, Kentucky, North Carolina, Tennessee, South Carolina, Georgia, Florida, Alabama, Mississippi, Louisiana, and Texas. The institutions selected met the following requirements - public, 4 year institutions, with a hospitality management undergraduate program. The type of bachelor degree, college or required total number of credit hours to earn the degree were not considered. The four key factors that were analyzed for each institution are as follows: number of internship courses, number of hours for the course(s), total number of credits, completed before/during/after senior year, and additional work experience needed. The information was found on the respective institution's major curriculum website.

#### **Findings**

Table 1 demonstrates the comparison of all 23 institutions. The number of internship courses offered ranged from 1 to 3 courses with the average being 1.3 courses. The number of

hours required for the internship course ranged from 300 to 1000 hours, but only 16 institutions provided specific hours required for the internship. The average number of hours required for the internship course was 493 hours. The total number of credits for the internship course(s) ranged from 0 to 6 credits with the average being 3.9 credit hours. Institutions varied the most in when the internship course needed to be completed relative to senior year. Out of 23 institutions, only two did not require an internship course.

While collecting data, a common factor occurred through 11 out of the 23 institutions. The curriculum required an additional hours of work experience needed that was either required prior to the internship course or as a total number of hours to be able to graduate. The definition of additional work varied for each institution or was not present on the website, which did not allow for further examination. 12 institutions did not require additional work experience.

 Table 1

 Comparison of Internship Requirements of Institutions in the SACSCOC Region

|            | # of<br>Internship<br>Courses | # of Hours<br>for course<br>work | Total #<br>Credits | Completed before, during, or after senior year | Additional # of<br>hospitality work<br>experience hours<br>needed |
|------------|-------------------------------|----------------------------------|--------------------|--|---|
| James      |                               |                                  |                    |  |   |
| Madison    |                               |                                  |                    |  |   |
| University | 1                             | 400                              | 3                  | Before   | 600^  |
| Virginia   |                               |                                  |                    |  |   |
| Tech       | 2                             | 700                              | 6                  | Before   |   |

| Virginia       |   |      |          |           |      |
|----------------|---|------|----------|-----------|------|
| State          |   |      |          |           |      |
| University     | 3 | 1000 | 6        | Before    |      |
| University of  |   |      |          |           |      |
| Kentucky       | 1 | 320  | 6        | Before    | 100^ |
| Westen         |   |      |          |           |      |
| Kentucky       |   |      |          | Before or |      |
| University     | 1 | _    | 6        | during    |      |
|                | 1 |      | 0        | - Garing  |      |
| Appalachian    |   |      |          |           |      |
| State          | 1 | 400  | <i>-</i> | D (       |      |
| University     | 1 | 400  | 6        | Before    |      |
| Western        |   |      |          |           |      |
| Carolina       |   |      |          |           |      |
| University     | 1 | N/A  | 3        | During    |      |
| University of  |   |      |          |           |      |
| North          |   |      |          |           |      |
| Carolina -     |   |      |          |           |      |
| Greensboro     | 1 | 480  | 3        | During    | 600* |
| Eastern        |   |      |          |           |      |
| Carolina       |   |      |          |           |      |
| University     | 2 | 600  | 6        | _         |      |
|                |   |      |          |           |      |
| University of  |   |      |          |           |      |
| Tennessee -    | 1 | 600  |          |           | 2004 |
| Knoxville      | 1 | 600  | 6        | -         | 300^ |
| University of  |   |      |          |           |      |
| Memphis        | 1 | -    | 3        | During    |      |
| University of  |   |      |          |           |      |
| South          |   |      |          |           |      |
| Carolina -     |   |      |          |           |      |
| Columbia       | 1 | 400  | 6        | Before    |      |
| Georgia        |   |      |          |           |      |
| State          |   |      |          |           |      |
| University     | 1 | 400  | 0        | During    |      |
| - ·-· <i>y</i> | * |      | •        | 2 411112  |      |

| Georgia       |   |            |   | Junior      |       |
|---------------|---|------------|---|-------------|-------|
| Southern      |   |            |   | Standing    |       |
| University    | 1 | -          | 3 | Needed      |       |
| Florida State |   |            |   |             |       |
| University    | 1 | varies     | 3 | Varies      | 1000* |
| Florida       |   |            |   |             |       |
| International |   |            |   |             |       |
| University    | 2 | 300 or 500 | 1 | Varies      | 500*  |
| University of |   |            |   |             |       |
| Central       |   |            |   | Before and  |       |
| Florida       | 3 | -          | 3 | During      |       |
| Auburn        |   |            |   |             |       |
| University    | 1 | 400        | 5 | During      | 600^  |
| University of |   |            |   |             |       |
| Mississippi   | 1 | 400        | 3 | During      | 200^  |
| University of |   |            |   | Elective    |       |
| Southern      |   |            |   | course, not |       |
| Mississippi   | 1 | 400        | 3 | required    |       |
|               |   |            |   | Elective    |       |
| University of |   |            |   | course, not |       |
| New Orleans   | 1 | -          | 3 | required    | 600*  |
| University of |   |            |   |             |       |
| North Texas   | 1 | 500        | 3 | During      | 500^  |
| Texas Tech    |   |            |   |             |       |
| University    | 1 | 400        | 3 | During      | 800*  |

<sup>\*</sup> Total hours, including internship course(s) hours, to be completed prior to graduation

<sup>^</sup> Total hours to be completed prior to internship course

<sup>-</sup> Information could not be found through online sources

#### Limitations

There are several limitations to this study. The findings are only reflective of one out of seven regional accrediting organizations in the Council for Higher Education Accreditation (CHEA). The institutions do not encompass all of the hospitality management programs in the SACSCOC region. Additionally, the information used for the research was the latest information found on the each institution's website but may not be the most current curriculum if the institutions have failed to update the website. Lastly, this research was performed in a limited amount of time which did not allow for primary research to be executed.

#### **Implications**

Based on the data from the 23 institutions and the literature review, the institutions in the SACSCOC region are not allied with each other or industry employers. All of the institutions offered some form of internship course, either required or elective format. The average internship hours were below the industry employers in the two studies mentioned (Petrillose & Montgomery, 1997; Jack, Stansbie & Michael, 2017). The institutions varied between the number of internship hours and the other factor of additional work experience needed. The additional work experience was a required zero credit course for some institutions like James Madison University, a prerequisite to be able to complete the internship course like University of Kentucky, or an internship course was not required but additional work experience was like University of New Orleans. Furthermore, each institution varied on how these additional courses

were displayed on sample curriculum information. This inconsistency adds to the overall view that an industry employer will not be able to clearly understand the knowledge or skill level of a student or recent graduate with a hospitality management degree (Jack, Stansbie & Michael, 2017).

The research confirms the perceived disconnect between hospitality management programs and industry employers. Programs in the SASCOC region can review this information to assess where their internship curriculum stands with other institutions and the expectations of industry employers. Even though the institutions are within the same SACSCOC region, there is no standard internship structure. Future studies could compare the internship competencies and assessment methods within the region to find commonalities and which are most successful. This could assist in creating an internship structure that is accepted and standardized for the SASCOC region, which would benefit educators, students and industry employers.

#### Conclusion

This study aimed to compare hospitality management internship curriculum to industry employer expectations. With a focus on institutions in the SASCOC region, internship curriculum does not meet the expectations of the industry employers, which corresponds with past studies (Petrillose & Montgomery, 1997; Jack, Stansbie & Michael, 2017). There are four key factors in internship curriculum from the SACSCOC region that can be used by industry employers to understand what to expect from students or recent graduates with internship experience. Additionally, these key factors can be used to define internship experience within the

SACSCOC region which would benefit educators, students and industry employers. This could encourage further research into hospitality management program internship standardization within the SACSCOC region and all regions under the Council for Higher Education Accreditation.

#### References

- Alexakis, G., & Jiang, L. (2019). Industry Competencies and the Optimal Hospitality

  Management Curriculum: An Empirical Study. *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Education*, 31(4), 210–220. https://doi.org/10.1080/10963758.2019.1575748
- Appalachian State University. *Hospitality and Tourism Management (BSBA)*. Appalachian State University. https://www.appstate.edu/academics/majors/id/hospitality-tourism-management.
- Auburn University. *Internship*. Hospitality Management Undergraduate Auburn University College of Human Sciences. http://humsci.auburn.edu/hosp/ugrad/.
- Eastern Carolina University. 2020-2021 Undergraduate Catalog. East Carolina University Acalog ACMS™. http://catalog.ecu.edu/preview\_program.php?catoid=20.
- Florida International University. (2020, July 1). *B.S. in Hospitality Management*. https://hospitality.fiu.edu/undergraduate/hospitality-management/.
- Florida State University. About the Major. https://dedman.fsu.edu/current-students/undergraduate-programs/hospitality-tourism-management/about-major.
- Georgia Southern University. *Catalog 2020-2021*. Management B.B.A. (Emphasis in Hospitality Management) < Georgia Southern University. https://catalog.georgiasouthern.edu/undergraduate/business/management/management-bba-emphasis-hospitality-management/.

- Georgia State University. *B.B.A. in Hospitality Administration*. J. Mack Robinson College of Business. https://robinson.gsu.edu/undergraduate/areas-of-study/hospitality-administration/.
- Jack, K., Stansbie, P., & Sciarini, M. (2017). An examination of the role played by internships in nurturing management competencies in hospitality and tourism management (HTM) students. *Journal of Teaching in Travel & Tourism*, 17(1), 17-33. doi: 10.1080/15313220.2016.1268946
- James Madison University. *University Catalogs Hospitality Management, B.S.* James Madison

  University Acalog ACMS<sup>™</sup>. https://catalog.jmu.edu/preview\_program.php?catoid=41.
- Jiang, L. & Alexakis, G. (2017). Comparing students' and managers' perceptions of essential entry-level management competencies in the hospitality industry: An empirical study.

  \*\*Journal of Hospitality, Leisure, Sport & Tourism Education, 20, 32–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhlste.2017.01.001
- Lee, S. (2007). Increasing Student Learning: A Comparison of Students' Perceptions of Learning in the Classroom Environment and their Industry-Based Experiential Learning

  Assignments. *Journal of Teaching in Travel & Tourism*, 7(4), 37–54. https://doi-org.jwupvdz.idm.oclc.org/10.1080/15313220802033310
- Petrillose, M. J., & Montgomery, R. (1997). An Exploratory Study of Internship Practices in Hospitality Education and Industry's Perception of the Importance of Internships in Hospitality Curriculum. *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Education*, *9*(4), 46–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/10963758.1997.10685352

- Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on College. (2018). DIRECT ASSESSMENT COMPETENCY-BASED EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMS Policy Statement. In *sacscoc.org* (pp. 1–2). https://sacscoc.org/app/uploads/2019/08/DirectAssessmentCompetencyBased.pdf
- Texas Tech University. *Bachelor of Science in Restaurant, Hotel and Institutional Management*.

  TTU- Hospitality and Retail Management. https://www.depts.ttu.edu/hs/hrm/rhim/undergraduate.php.
- University of Central Florida. 2020-2021 Undergraduate Catalog. University of Central Florida
   Acalog ACMS™. https://catalog.ucf.edu/preview\_program.php?catoid=18.
- University of Kentucky. *Hospitality Management & Tourism*. Hospitality Management & Tourism | Academics. https://www.uky.edu/academics/bachelors/hospitality-management-tourism.
- University of Memphis. *Course Descriptions*. BA in HPRM Kemmons Wilson School of Hospitality & Resort Management The University of Memphis. https://www.memphis.edu/wilson/hospitality/ba\_hprm.php.
- University of Mississippi. *Hospitality Management Curriculum*. Nutrition and Hospitality Management. https://nhm.olemiss.edu/bshm/bs-hospitality-management-curriculum/.
- University of New Orleans. *Work Experience and Internships*. https://www.uno.edu/academics/coba/hrt/work-experience-internships.

- University of North Carolina Greensboro. 2020-2021 University Catalog. Sustainable Tourism and Hospitality, B.S. < UNC Greensboro. https://catalog.uncg.edu/business-economics/marketing-entrepreneurship-hospitality-tourism/sustainable-tourism-hospitality-ba/.
- University of North Texas. *Degree Requirements Sheet*. Bachelor of Science in Hospitality

  Management | College of Merchandising, Hospitality & Tourism. https://cmht.unt.edu/bachelor-science-hospitality-management.
- University of South Carolina. *Program: Hospitality Management, BS*. Columbia Campus Acalog ACMS<sup>TM</sup>. http://bulletin.sc.edu/preview\_program.php?catoid=88.
- University of Southern Mississippi. 2020-2021 Undergraduate Bulletin. University of Southern

  Mississippi Acalog ACMS™. http://catalog.usm.edu/preview\_program.php?catoid=24.
- University of Tennessee- Knoxville. *Hospitality and Tourism Management*. Retail, Hospitality, and Tourism Management. https://rhtm.utk.edu/undergraduate/hotel-and-restaurant-management/.
- Viginia Tech. *Courses*. Howard Feiertag Department of Hospitality and Tourism Management | Virginia Tech. https://htm.pamplin.vt.edu/undergraduate/courses.html.
- Virginia State University. *Hospitality Management Cirriculum*. VSU Online. http://agriculture.vsu.edu/academics/hospitality-management/dept-hosp-mngt/index.php.
- Western Carolina University. Hospitality and Tourism. https://www.wcu.edu/learn/departments-schools-colleges/cob/academic-departments/market-entr-sm-ht/hospitality-tourism.aspx.

- Western Kentucky University. *Home*. Hotel, Restaurant and Tourism Management | Western Kentucky University. https://www.wku.edu/ahs/hospitality/index.php.
- Yiu, M., & Law, R. (2012). A Review of Hospitality Internship: Different Perspectives of Students, Employers, and Educators. *Journal of Teaching in Travel & Tourism*, *12*(4), 377–402. https://doi.org/10.1080/15313220.2012.729459